Appeal No. 22-CF-447



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 06/09/2023 02:46 PM Filed 06/09/2023 02:46 PM

ROBERT WILSON DEAN,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division Case No. 2018-CF1-5520

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Anne Keith Walton, Esq. Bar No. 991042 455 Massachusetts Ave. NW #347 Washington, DC 20001 Phone: (202) 642-5046 Email: waltonlawdc@gmail.com

Counsel for Appellant

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the trial court committed reversible error by denying Mr. Dean's motion to suppress electronic data obtained from his cell phone where the search warrants were overbroad and lacked particularity, and where the seizure by the prosecuting attorney of the entire contents of the phone ran afoul of the Fourth Amendment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January 2019, Mr. Dean was indicted on one count of First-Degree Murder While Armed (Premeditated) in violation of D.C. Code §§ 22-2101, 4502, in connection with the death of Tamiya White, which occurred on March 31, 2018, in the District of Columbia. R. at 836.¹ On October 20, 2021, a jury trial commenced before the Honorable Marisa Demeo ("the trial court"). On November 4, 2021, the jury found Mr. Dean guilty of Second-Degree Murder While Armed. *Id.* at 1307-08. On May 20, 2022, the trial court sentenced Mr. Dean to 300 months (25 years) incarceration and 5 years of supervised release and ordered that he pay \$100 to the Victims of Violent Crime Compensation fund. Appx. A. Counsel for Mr. Dean filed a timely notice of appeal on June 18, 2022, and an amended notice of appeal on June 21, 2022. R. at 1348-49, 1351-52.

¹ "R." refers to the record. This brief cites the pages of the record PDFs, not the record indices. "Tr." refers to the transcript. "Appx." refers to the Limited Appendix.

<u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u>

Motions to Suppress Cell Phone Data

Prior to trial, the defense submitted a Motion to Suppress Electronic Data seized from Mr. Dean's cell phone and argued that the data was seized pursuant to a facially deficient, defective, and invalid search warrant, which violated Mr. Dean's rights under the Fourth Amendment. R. at 974-1013. As background, members of the Metropolitan Police Department ("MPD") recovered a Cricket Wireless cell phone from Mr. Dean when he was arrested on April 5, 2018. Id. at 998. On April 6, 2018, Detective Richard Rice submitted a search warrant for the cell phone data. Appx. C. A Superior Court judge approved the search warrant. Id. On January 30, 2020, Detective Rice submitted a similar search warrant, seeking additional data from Mr. Dean's phone that could be obtained with technology that was not available in 2018. Appx. D. Specifically, a logical extraction had been conducted in 2018, but, in 2020, a physical extraction could be performed to obtain additional data. Id. A Superior Court judge approved the search warrant after making a few edits. *Id.*

In its motion to suppress the cell phone data, the defense argued that "the search of the smart phone and seizure of electronic data constitutes an immense invasion of privacy and precisely the baseless and overbroad rummaging barred by the Fourth Amendment and long condemned by our case law." R. at 975 (citing *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373 (2014). Since "the warrants were overbroad and lacked

probable cause," the defense argued that they should be declared invalid, and that any evidence seized during the execution of the warrants should be suppressed. R. at 976. The government opposed the motion. *Id.* at 1051-60. Judge Ronna Lee Beck denied the motion in open court on February 18, 2020, without a hearing. Tr. 2/18/20 at 6.

The defense filed a motion to reconsider Judge Beck's ruling in light of this Court's holding in Burns v. United States, 235 A.3d 758 (D.C. 2020). R. at 1152-55. The government opposed the motion. Id. at 1159-71. A hearing was held before Judge Demeo on October 5, 2021. The government explained that it was seeking to admit text messages between Mr. Dean and Ms. White and between Mr. Dean and another witness inside of the time frame specified in the 2020 warrant (March 1 to April 5, 2018) as well as call logs and web searches within the same time period. Appx. E at 11-15. Assistant United States Attorney Monica Trigoso explained that, when the Department of Forensic Sciences ("DFS") conducts extractions, "[t]hey pull everything, because there's no way to unpull stuff." Id. at 18. Ms. Trigoso further explained that, when a prosecutor receives the extraction in PDF format with a Table of Contents, she is able to select and review certain items or categories that appear relevant. Id. at 18-25, 37. Ms. Trigoso recalled using this procedure in Mr. Dean's case, but the trial court requested that she provide additional information following the hearing. Id. Ms. Trigoso sent emails a few days later supplementing her requests regarding the introduction of cell phone data evidence at trial, including, but not limited to, searches for Catholic Charities and "related searches" on Mr. Dean's phone and the status of Mr. Dean's IRS refund. R. at 1208-09. Ms. Trigoso also represented that Detective Rice "didn't view anything in the defendant's phone other than the physical phone in 2018" and "did not view any of the contents of the extraction after the 2020 extraction." *Id*.

At the October 5, 2021, hearing, the defense argued that the warrants in Mr. Dean's case were similar to those found to be overbroad and invalid in *Burns*, and the government attempted to distinguish the two cases. Appx. E at 33-34. The defense also argued that the government's procedure fits the definition of "rummaging through" Mr. Dean's personal effects because, "rather than some sort of procedure being followed to make sure that it's just the specific items of relevant evidence that's supported by probable cause, they're getting that entire universe of information like pursuant to the warrant and . . . at that point, making a decision about what is relevant to their case." *Id.* at 27. In other words, after DFS performs the extraction of the entire contents of the phone and provides it to the prosecutor, the prosecutor then has information that is outside the scope of the warrant, which constitutes an unlawful seizure. Id. at 28-32, 37-38. The government argued that it would be too difficult to follow a more painstaking procedure akin to a taint review

conducted by people who are not investigating or litigating the case because the government does not have "unlimited time, money, [and] resources." *Id.* at 32-33.

On October 12, 2021, the trial court granted the defense motion to suppress the cell phone data. The trial court found that:

And so in this case, even assuming for legal argument that the warrants were properly done by the judges, what causes the Court concern in terms of Fourth Amendment issues and it just sort of glares at this Court, that <u>despite the efforts that judges undertook to make sure that</u> <u>the privacy interest of the accused here were protected in compliance</u> with the Fourth Amendment, the Government ultimately received, <u>seized and received the entire contents of the cell phone</u>.

Appx. F at 12-13 (emphasis added). The trial court further found that DFS's

extraction of the data was not problematic, but that:

But then what happened factually, the Court finds in this case, is that a detective then picked up – excuse me, initially it was unclear if the detective picked it up or not, but what is clear is that the detective never viewed it and there is some indication that the Prosecutor may have been the one who picked it up in terms of the data.

Either way the Court finds it's sufficient that the detective picked up the information which contained an extract of the entire phone and based on proffer again that the detective did not see it but then provided the entire download to the actual Prosecutor prosecuting this case. And ultimately that Prosecutor is still the Prosecutor here in this matter and *I heard her efforts to stay within the confines of what the Court had permitted, however, it just doesn't change the key fact that causes the Court concern about the defendant's privacy rights and that is that in the Prosecutor's hands was the one who's prosecuting this case was given all of the extract of the defendant's phone despite that judges had attempted to narrow down the evidence that would be available to law enforcement to use in the prosecution ultimately*. And I did hear, you know, the concerns from the Government in terms of that's just how it's structured at the United States Attorney's Office, that there is not some other entity or person or anyone available to review these large volumes of information but that unfortunately, you know, for the Court [that] doesn't resolve the privacy issue.

Id. at 13-14 (emphasis added). The trial court rejected the government's argument that it could not have taken additional steps to protect Mr. Dean's privacy and granted the defense motion to suppress, prohibiting the government to present any evidence "that was obtained through any download or extract of the defendant's phone." *Id.* at 16-17.

The government filed a motion to reconsider, and the defense opposed the motion. R. at 1212-26, 1233-36. The trial court issued a written order reversing her previous ruling, explaining that it had misapplied *Burns*, and finding that the search warrant complied with the Fourth Amendment, that the execution of the warrant was lawful, and that the information obtained from Mr. Dean's cell phone would be admitted at trial. Appx. B.

Government's Evidence at Trial

Anderlene Wiggins, Francisca Martinez, Officer Wilfredo Guzman, James Morris, Ruth McNeal, Maureen Silva, Milton Lewis, Catherine Roller, Detective Andre Parker, Officer Tashina Wilhelm, Brianna Hutson, Sasha Breland, Detective Richard Rice, Christina Nash, and Zachary McMenamin testified for the government. Testimony began with Ms. White's aunt, Anderlene Wiggins, who provided background information about Ms. White but conceded that she did not see Ms. White regularly and had no knowledge of Mr. Dean or his relationship with Ms. White. Tr. 10/25/21 at 83-85.

Francisca Martinez testified that she was employed as a cashier at the McDonald's at 1901 9th Street, NE in March 2018. *Id.* at 91-92. Ms. Martinez recalled that an injured woman entered the McDonald's on March 31, 2018. *Id.* at 94. According to Ms. Martinez, the woman had her hand on her neck, and blood was coming from her neck and chest area. *Id.* at 95, 108. Ms. Martinez testified that another McDonald's employee called 911 and that medical staff responded to the scene and administered treatment. *Id.* Ms. Martinez also testified about video surveillance at McDonald's and described footage from March 31, 2018, which the government played for the jury. *Id.* at 98-105. On cross examination, Ms. Martinez

Officer Wilfredo Guzman testified that he and his partner received a call for service ("radio run") to respond to the McDonald's at 5:04 p.m. *Id.* at 116. The radio run was played for the jury. *Id.* at 119-20. Officer Guzman testified that, when he pulled into the McDonald's parking lot, he saw a burgundy Toyota Avalon parked by the door. *Id.* at 120. According to Officer Guzman, the driver's door was open and there was a trail of blood leading towards the inside of the McDonald's. *Id.* In the McDonald's, Officer Guzman came into contact with Ms. White, who was seated

at a booth, could not speak, and was being treated by medics. *Id.* at 121. According to Officer Guzman, Ms. White was taken to an ambulance, and he witnessed her take her last breath, but he could not verify that, as he is not a medical professional. *Id.* at 122, 163-64. Officer White also described video surveillance played for the jury and identified Ms. White pulling up to the McDonald's in her Toyota Avalon and stepping out of the driver's side door. *Id.* at 125. Officer Guzman was later able to look inside of Ms. White's vehicle and learned that she lived about two minutes away from the McDonald's by car. *Id.* at 144.

James Morris testified that he was a long-time friend of Mr. Dean. Tr. 10/26/21 at 7-9. According to Mr. Morris, Mr. Dean sent him a text message on March 31, 2018, stating that he was upset and might be going to jail. *Id.* at 10. Mr. Morris was not concerned at that point that Mr. Dean was going to hurt anyone and agreed that "I might be going to jail" can be used as an expression or joke. *Id.* at 59-60. Mr. Morris recalled that he called Mr. Dean, and that Mr. Dean said he was upset with a lady, and that she had taken money from him or used him. *Id.* at 11. Mr. Morris further recalled that Mr. Dean, who was upset and crying, also stated that Ms. White would not let him back in her apartment and so he had been sleeping in the laundry room. *Id.* at 14, 16. About two hours later, Mr. Morris drove from Woodbridge, Virginia to the District to pick up Mr. Dean. *Id.* at 17, 61. Mr. Morris recalled that, upon Mr. Dean's request, he picked him up across the street from the

apartments at Mount Olivet Road. *Id.* at 18-19. According to Mr. Morris, Mr. Dean was still upset and began talking about what had occurred with Ms. White. *Id.* at 19. Mr. Dean did not appear high or intoxicated and was not bragging about what had occurred. *Id.* at 65, 67. Mr. Morris recalled that Mr. Dean stated that he got into an altercation with Ms. White and that "she hit him in the face with something and scratched his face" and then Mr. Dean stabbed her with a screwdriver 30 times, and then threw the screwdriver into the bushes. *Id.* at 22-25, 67-68. Mr. Morris recalled that Mr. Dean had a big scratch on his face (about 1 inch) and was bleeding, and it looked like Mr. Dean had been struck with an object, such as keys. *Id.* at 26, 64, 69. Mr. Morris and Mr. Dean went to eat and then went to Mr. Morris's daughter's house, and then Mr. Morris took Mr. Dean back to the District. *Id.* at 27-28.

Mr. Morris later watched the news, which reported that a woman had been stabbed, and then texted Mr. Dean to verify whether this was the woman who he had stabbed. *Id.* at 34-35, 48. Mr. Morris testified that he tried to get Mr. Dean to turn himself in, but that Mr. Dean was not willing to do so because, according to Mr. Dean, the police did not have any evidence on him. *Id.* at 36, 39. On April 2, 2018, Mr. Morris anonymously called the MPD tip line to report a homicide, was called by a detective, and met with the detective and Ms. Trigoso. *Id.* at 42-44. He showed them his phone with pictures of the text messages that he had exchanged with Mr. Dean. *Id.*

Ruth McNeal testified that she knew Mr. Dean from the neighborhood where they grew up but did not stay in touch with him over the years. *Id.* at 89-90. According to Ms. McNeal, she saw Mr. Dean in March 2018 (about 2 or 3 weeks before Ms. White's death) in her neighborhood, which was near Ms. White's apartment, and Mr. Dean told her that he could not get into the house and was waiting for his disability benefits (SSI) in the amount of \$4000. *Id.* at 90-92, 95-96, 99. Mr. Dean also told Ms. McNeal that, when his money came in, he would "bless [her]," meaning that he would give her money. *Id.* at 138-39. Ms. McNeal told Mr. Dean that he could go to her apartment and get some cigarettes, which he did, and Ms. McNeal also gave him some money. *Id.* at 93-95.

According to Ms. McNeal, the next time she saw Mr. Dean was on March 31, 2018, when her husband, Milton Lewis, brought him into their apartment. *Id.* at 100-02. Ms. McNeal testified that Mr. Dean was "hyper" and kept saying "I killed that bitch." *Id.* at 102-03. Mr. Lewis testified that Mr. Dean started shouting, "That bitch dead. I hope that bitch dead." *Id.* at 222. Ms. McNeal further testified that Mr. Dean explained to her that he had given Ms. White \$400 for rent, that they used the money on drugs, and that she made him leave her apartment, so he had been sleeping in the laundry room for a few days. *Id.* at 111-12. Mr. Lewis provided similar testimony. Tr. 10/27/21 at 26-27.

According to Ms. McNeal, Mr. Dean told her that, when he saw Ms. White on March 31, 2018, he approached her, and Ms. White said "Bitch-ass nigger, I'm not paying for nothing." Tr. 10/26/21 at 113. Mr. Lewis recalled that Ms. White had called him a "bitch ass mother fucker." Tr. 10/27/21 at 30. Mr. Dean also told Ms. McNeal and Mr. Lewis that Ms. White hit him in his face with something after reaching into her car. Tr. 10/26/21 at 104, 107, 109, 114, 141-43, 228; Tr. 10/27/21 at 31. Ms. McNeal verified that Mr. Dean had a scratch underneath his right eye, and that his face was bleeding, and that she gave him a towel to put on his face. Tr. 10/26/21 at 104, 107-08. Mr. Lewis also verified that Mr. Dean was bleeding from his face, which was swollen on the left side, and Mr. Dean said that Ms. White had stabbed him in the face with something. Id. at 225. Mr. Lewis also testified that he could see a puncture within a knot on Mr. Dean's face "maybe, like, the size of maybe like a key." Id. at 226-27. According to Ms. McNeal, Mr. Dean also told her that he hit Ms. White about 30 times, and that he used a screwdriver, but that Ms. White had hit him first. Id. at 104-06, 109. According to Mr. Lewis, Mr. Dean said that he had stabbed Ms. White with a screwdriver, which he had in his coat pocket. Id. at 228-29. Ms. McNeal and Mr. Lewis also testified that Mr. Dean told them that, after the altercation with Ms. White, she got in her car and drove away. Id. at 115-16, 231. According to Mr. Lewis, Mr. Dean told him that he had thrown the screwdriver in the bushes. Id. at 232.

Ms. McNeal testified that, at some point, Mr. Dean's friend (Mr. Morris) picked him up, but later Mr. Dean returned, and even though Mr. Dean had told her about the altercation with Ms. White, Ms. McNeal let him stay in her apartment overnight. Id. at 117-19. According to Ms. McNeal and Mr. Lewis, Mr. Dean called hospitals to find out if Ms. White was dead. Id. at 121; Tr. 10/27/21 at 45. Ms. McNeal and Mr. Lewis also recalled that they saw a news flash on Mr. Dean's phone about what had occurred with Ms. White and saw that there was a \$25,000 reward being offered to anyone with information about the incident. Tr. 10/26/21 at 121-22, 154; Tr. 10/27/21 at 50-51. In the morning, Ms. McNeal told Mr. Dean that he had to leave. Tr. 10/26/21 at 124-25. Ms. McNeal and Mr. Lewis testified that they decided to contact Mr. Lewis's nephew, Detective Andre Parker, on April 2, 2018. Id. at 129; Tr. 10/27/21 at 64-67. Subsequent to that, Detective Rice went to Ms. McNeal's apartment to discuss the case and recover evidence, including a brown jacket that Mr. Dean had left in her apartment. Tr. 10/26/21 at 116, 125, 131.

Ms. McNeal admitted that she had been wanting to move out of her Section 8 housing, and that she addressed this with the detectives and prosecutor, and they gave her financial assistance (a security deposit and rent payments) to move to a better environment. *Id.* at 158-64. Ms. McNeal also admitted that she had multiple prior convictions, including theft of less than \$500 in 2010, grand theft in 2002, petty theft in 2002, theft of less than \$500 in 2003, and solicitation in 2013. *Id.* at 167-68,

176; Tr. 10/27/21 at 12-13. Mr. Lewis reluctantly admitted that he asked Detective Rice about the reward money on his way to testify before the Grand Jury. Tr. 10/27/21 at 80-81.

MPD Officer Tashina Wilhelm testified that she and her partner, Officer Foote, responded to a dispatch about a family disturbance and went to Ms. White's apartment on March 18, 2018, at about 1:22 a.m. Tr. 10/28/21 at 18-20. Ms. White, who was very erratic and in an "elevated or agitated state," met Officer Wilhelm and her partner in front of the building and indicated that she needed Mr. Dean removed from her apartment. Id. at 21-22. According to Officer Wilhelm, it appeared that Ms. White was intoxicated, and she smelled like alcohol. Id. at 33, 39. Officer Wilhelm entered Ms. White's apartment and encountered Mr. Dean, who was sitting in a chair and was "very calm [and] relaxed." Id. at 23. In contrast, Ms. White was moving erratically, pulling at her clothes, and talking fast. Id. at 34. Ms. White told the officers that Mr. Dean had kicked her door in, but the chain was still on the door so that did not seem plausible. Id. at 34. Ms. White also indicated that Mr. Dean had keys to the apartment, but he did not, nor did he have any weapons. Id. at 29, 37-38. After Mr. Dean and Ms. White "air[ed] their grievances," including Ms. White's insistence that she had no money to give Mr. Dean, he left the apartment voluntarily. Id. at 35-36. The interaction was captured on Officer Foote's body-worn-camera ("BWC"), and portions of the footage (some muted) were played for the jury. *Id.* at 24-27.

Officer Wilhelm testified that she had no reason to arrest Mr. Dean. *Id.* at 30. Officer Wilhelm further testified that, after she left, she heard another dispatch stating that Mr. Dean was banging on Ms. White's door, but Officer Wilhelm believed that was false because, at the time she received the call, she saw Mr. Dean sitting at a bus terminal or gas station at a different location. *Id.* at 40-42.

Detective Andre Parker testified that his uncle, Milton Lewis, contacted him on April 2, 2018, in connection with Mr. Dean's case. Tr. 10/27/21 at 208. Detective Parker recalled that he then contacted Detective Rice and advised Mr. Lewis that Detective Rice would contact him with regards to the investigation. *Id.* at 209-10.

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