BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 12/15/2023 05:18 PM

No. 22-CF-447

ROBERT WILSON DEAN, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN MONICA TRIGOSO GEORGE PACE

- * ERIC HANSFORD D.C. Bar #1017785 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Eric.Hansford@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2018-CF1-5520

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

B. *See infra* Part B.2. But Dean chose not to challenge the AUSA's review: he "did not focus on what [the AUSA] did but rather on the very fact that she received the entire extraction" (R. 92 at 13). And mere receipt of the report is allowed.

B. A Warrant's Execution May Be Challenged for Reasonableness After the Fact, but Dean Has Made No Such Challenge Here.

The Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected calls for courts authorizing a warrant to "set forth precisely the procedures to be followed by the executing officers." Dalia, 441 U.S. at 258. "Nothing in the language of the Constitution or in [the Supreme] Court's decisions interpreting that language suggests that . . . search warrants also must include a specification of the precise manner in which they are to be executed." Grubbs, 547 U.S. at 98 (citation omitted). "On the contrary, it is generally left to the discretion of the executing officers to determine the details of how best to proceed with the performance of a search authorized by warrant " Dalia, 441 U.S. at 257. Afterwards, "the manner in which a warrant is executed is subject to later judicial review as to its reasonableness." *Id.* at 258. As then-Judge Gorsuch explained, courts reviewing execution of a computer or cell-phone warrant can examine "the reasonableness of the search protocols the government actually employed in its search after the fact, when the case comes to court, and in light of the totality of the circumstances." United States v. Christie, 717 F.3d 1156, 1167 (10th Cir. 2013). But a defendant who fails to elicit such details fails to carry his

burden to justify suppression. See id.

Like in Christie, Dean preserved no objection to the search protocols employed here. Below, the court specifically explained that Dean was not making that sort of challenge—his argument in the trial court focused entirely "on the very fact that [the AUSA] received the entire extraction" (R. 92 at 12-13) (emphasis added). Dean accepted that characterization, waiving any new execution-related challenge. See Poth v. United States, 150 A.3d 784, 789 n.8 (D.C. 2016); see also Campbell v. United States, 163 A.3d 790, 798 n.13 (D.C. 2017) (new suppression arguments barred on appeal absent showing of "good cause"). Even on appeal, Dean and PDS have not disputed the trial court's findings showing that the AUSA acted reasonably. "[G]uided by Attachment B," the AUSA "looked for data that fell within the time frames and categories of data outlined in the warrant" (R. 92 at 16). The AUSA did not "rummage' through his private information" (id. at 17). See also id. at 12 (summarizing unchallenged proffer about AUSA's review). Dean has not argued that those factual findings are clearly erroneous or otherwise suggested that the AUSA selected unreasonable methods.⁹

-

⁹ Dean's brief includes occasional skeptical (and conflicting) asides about the AUSA's review (see Dean Br. 38-41). Those sarcastic, undeveloped musings are not enough to present an issue for appeal, if that is what Dean is seeking to do here. *See Comford v. United States*, 947 A.2d 1181, 1188 (D.C. 2008).

C. Courts Consistently Reject Rigid, Ex Ante Limits on a Warrant's Execution Like Those that Dean and PDS Propose.

PDS and Dean suggest that in executing the warrant, law enforcement should have been required to follow some preset protocols, like judge-approved search terms or taint teams. But courts consistently reject these sorts of solutions—especially after a warrant lacking such requirements has been executed.

Again, Supreme Court precedent has already rejected predetermined limits on how law enforcement should go about executing a warrant. *See Grubbs*, 547 U.S. at 98; *Dalia*, 441 U.S. at 258. Federal circuits thus consistently reject fixed, ex ante limits on which files may be viewed in executing a digital search warrant. The "deeply flawed" "ex ante strategy" "wrongly assumes that prosecutors and magistrate judges have the knowledge needed to articulate search strategies before the search begins. In truth, the forensics process is too contingent and unpredictable for judges to establish effective ex ante rules." Orin S. Kerr, *Searches and Seizures in A Digital World*, 119 Harv. L. Rev. 531, 572 (2005). Investigators are "at a loss

^{See, e.g., United States v. Crespo-Rios, 645 F.3d 37, 43 (1st Cir. 2011); United States v. Galpin, 720 F.3d 436, 447 (2d Cir. 2013); United States v. Stabile, 633 F.3d 219, 237 (3d Cir. 2011); United States v. Williams, 592 F.3d 511, 521 (4th Cir. 2010); United States v. Richards, 659 F.3d 527, 538 (6th Cir. 2011); United States v. Mann, 592 F.3d 779, 782 (7th Cir. 2010); United States v. Comprehensive Drug Testing, Inc., 621 F.3d 1162, 1176 (9th Cir. 2010) (en banc); United States v. Burgess, 576 F.3d 1078, 1094 (10th Cir. 2009); United States v. Khanani, 502 F.3d 1281, 1290 (11th Cir. 2007).}

to know ex ante what sort of search will prove sufficient to ferret out the evidence they legitimately seek." *Christie*, 717 F.3d at 1166.

Dean cites no authorities supporting ex ante limits, and the feebleness of the citations that PDS provides (see PDS Br. 26 & n.18) is telling. Hundreds of thousands—perhaps millions—of computer and cell phone search warrants have been executed in recent decades, and Dean and PDS point to nothing special about the warrant here. So their proposed restrictions would appear to apply to every cellphone and computer warrant in every jurisdiction in every case, marking a massive upheaval. Yet they fail to identify a single appellate court that has agreed with them, or a recent Supreme Court precedent justifying the overhaul of nationwide practice. Indeed, PDS cites (id.) a Ninth Circuit case that specifically rejects any argument that "the absence of these [search] protocols . . . violates the Fourth Amendment." United States v. Schesso, 730 F.3d 1040, 1047 (9th Cir. 2013). Even the hodgepodge of magistrates and unpublished district courts that PDS cites are decisions declining to issue warrants without search protocols (see PDS Br. 26 n.18). PDS offers no cases suggesting that a warrant issued without such protocols would be subject to suppression after the warrant is executed. Cf. Leon, 468 U.S. 897. Their half-baked theories justify no Fourth Amendment revolution.

Moreover, Dean's and PDS's concern about seeing non-criminal information while searching for evidence is not unique to digital warrants. Indeed, that is a

standard feature of warrants in the physical world: in executing a warrant, "it is certain that some innocuous documents will be examined, at least cursorily, in order to determine whether they are, in fact, among those papers authorized to be seized." *Andresen*, 427 U.S. at 482 n.11. Yet the possibility of finding medications in a nightstand being searched for a gun, or legitimate bank records in a filing cabinet being searched for counterfeit money, has never resulted in further constitutional limits being superimposed on how the police may execute the warrant. In any event, each solution floated by the briefs quickly fails under scrutiny.

Search terms. Requests for pre-specified search terms or other digital search protocols (see PDS Br. 25-26 & n.18) have been consistently rejected. Beyond the legal barriers discussed above, perhaps "the most compelling point . . . may be simply that such an approach is not feasible." LaFave § 4.10(d). An infamous Ninth Circuit decision a decade ago instructed magistrates to require disclosure and approval of the government's search protocols. See United States v. Comprehensive Drug Testing, Inc. (CDT II), 579 F.3d 989 (9th Cir. 2009) (en banc). But the court soon reversed course, moving the suggestion into a concurring opinion, and making

¹¹ See Galpin, 720 F.3d at 451; Stabile, 633 F.3d 219; United States v. Triplett, 684 F.3d 500 (5th Cir. 2012); United States v. Evers, 669 F.3d 645 (6th Cir. 2012); Mann, 592 F.3d 779; United States v. Cartier, 543 F.3d 442 (8th Cir. 2008); Schesso, 730 F.3d at 1047; United States v. Brooks, 427 F.3d 1246 (10th Cir. 2005); Khanani, 502 F.3d 1281.

clear that it was offered "not as [a] constitutional requirement[] but as 'guidance,' which, when followed, 'offers the government a safe harbor.'" *Schesso*, 730 F.3d at 1049 (discussing *CDT III*, 621 F.3d 1162, 1178 (9th Cir. 2010) (en banc) (Kozinski, C.J., concurring)). Courts since have wisely avoided *CDT II*'s path.

Taint teams. "[G] overnment taint teams are primarily used in cases . . . where the government has already gained control of the *potentially privileged* documents through a search warrant," such as when searching a lawyer's office, and the taint team must "sift the wheat from the chaff." United States v. Snyder, 71 F.4th 555, 568 (7th Cir. 2023) (emphasis added). Here, by contrast, the notion of "taint" makes little sense. Someone who views unresponsive items is not "tainted." Rather, every execution of a search warrant requires sorting through unresponsive items to find the targeted evidence. See Andresen, 427 U.S. at 482 n.11. Indeed, the issue is most acute in the physical world, where a home search for "small, easily concealed objects" like drugs requires the police to "go through the premises 'with a fine tooth comb." LaFave § 4.10(d). Yet PDS offers no examples of using taint teams for routine search warrants (see PDS Br. 23 & n.17). On the other side of the scales, taint teams are hugely burdensome (see 10/5 Tr. 32-33, 39-40). A taint team requires a separate "team of prosecutors and agents," United States v. Lentz, 524 F.3d 501, 516 n.3 (4th Cir. 2008), whose lengthy review will significantly delay the case. See United States v. Jarman, 847 F.3d 259, 266 (5th Cir. 2017) ("the taint team review

only took eight months"). This is not something a "Warrant Compliance Unit" could knock out in a couple of hours (see 10/5 Tr. 24-25, 32-33, 39-40), especially since the members of such a unit would have to learn the details of each case to know what evidence was relevant and what was not. If required for all digital warrants, the entire process would be unworkable. *See Riley*, 573 U.S. at 381 ("the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is 'reasonableness'").

Cellebrite redaction. On appeal, Dean "does not argue that there was anything improper about DFS extracting the entirety of the data from Mr. Dean's phone" (Dean Br. 40)—consistent with his affirmative waiver of any challenge to DFS's actions below (when represented by PDS) (see 10/5 Tr. 20-21, 28, 31-32). The trial court cited and relied on that concession (see 10/5 Tr. 31; 10/12 Tr. 13). Yet PDS now suggests (see PDS Br. 3 n.3, 21 & n.16) as a factual matter that Cellebrite actually could have redacted the extraction—without addressing the government's detailed representations to the contrary below (see 10/5 Tr. 19-28), which relied on expert testimony (see R. 88 at 5-8 & nn.2-3). See also LaFave § 4.10(d) ("limiting files to certain types" or imposing a date restriction during execution of search for digital evidence "will not work"). PDS evidently also regrets Dean's concession (by a PDS attorney) that DFS is not part of the prosecution team. But PDS as amicus cannot reopen that factual issue on appeal. See Apartment & Off. Bldg. Ass'n of Metro. Wash. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of D.C., 203 A.3d 772, 784 (D.C. 2019).

Manual redaction. Finally, PDS suggests in passing (PDS Br. 23) that "DFS or USAO staff still could have manually redacted or removed pages with content from dates that clearly did not include the target data from March and April 2018." Cell phones often misdate data, especially for particular categories like deleted items (R. 88 at 5-8 & nn.2-3), so there is no easy way to do such a dating sort. And anyway, if pages are so obviously unresponsive that they could be quickly cut by a paralegal unconnected to the case, Fourth Amendment reasonableness requirements would already bar the government from reviewing those pages during execution.

D. Dean's Execution Challenges Would Not Justify Suppression Anyway.

In any event, even if Dean could establish that the government acted unreasonably in executing the warrant, that still would not justify suppression here.

1. No Execution Challenge Lies to Recovery of Evidence Covered by the Warrant.

Because all of the cell-phone evidence introduced at Dean's trial fell within the authorized scope of the written warrant, claims that the government's execution went beyond that scope in other ways cannot justify suppression. Absent "a flagrant disregard' for the limitations of their authorized search" (which Dean does not claim here), "only the improperly-seized evidence will be suppressed; the properly-seized evidence remains admissible." *Porter v. United States*, 37 A.3d 251, 265 (D.C. 2012); *see also Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 443 (1984) (exclusionary rule puts

police "in the same, not a worse, position that they would have been in if no police error or misconduct had occurred"). In other words, evidence that the warrant authorized the government to seize will not be suppressed, even if some aspect of the search was unreasonable.

These principles apply fully to digital search warrants. Challenges to a digital warrant's execution commonly arise when police investigating one crime (say, fraud) stumble on evidence of another crime (say, child pornography), and the police charge the second crime. *See United States v. Loera*, 923 F.3d 907, 916-22 (10th Cir. 2019) (collecting such cases). When that happens, the police must explain why their search for financial records reasonably led them to the child pornography. If the police acted unreasonably, that may lead to suppression of the child pornography. But the defendant cannot seek to suppress the financial records that the police were entitled to search for. "If the scope of the government's search was too broad," the defendant (absent unusual circumstances) "would only be entitled to suppression of those emails that were introduced at trial and that reasonably fell outside the scope of the warrant." *United States v. Aboshady*, 951 F.3d 1, 9 (1st Cir. 2020).

Here, all of the evidence introduced at trial fell comfortably within the scope of the warrant. Exhibit 605 contained only records from March 19 to April 4. The vast majority of the communications were with Morris or White, plus a few inconsequential communications with McNeal. And the web history all related to

White's death (or finding homeless shelters). Indeed, the very fact that Dean fails to "clearly identif[y] which [digital records] that were introduced at trial fell outside the scope of the warrant" means he has not carried his burden in raising an execution challenge and is not entitled to suppression. *See Aboshady*, 951 F.3d at 9.

2. Good-Faith and Related Doctrines

The records are also immune from suppression under the good-faith doctrine. See supra Part I.E.1. While warrants do not typically describe how they will be executed, here the warrant did, explaining that the search could require "a range of data analysis techniques," potentially including "more extensive searches, such as scanning storage areas not obviously related to the evidence described in this warrant application or perusing all stored information briefly" to find responsive records (see App'x D ¶¶ 33-35). Further, Dean has never disputed the government's representation that Detective Rice talked to Judge Smith about the extraction process while obtaining the warrant, and Judge Smith "acknowledged that she was authorizing a limited search but understood that the technology did not reliably allow a limited timeframe for the extraction" (R. 88 at 13). Because the issuing judge blessed the execution method through issuance of the warrant, the good-faith doctrine bars suppression.

Moreover, given that Rule 41 authorizes the very method of execution that Dean and PDS now challenge, and federal courts uniformly endorse the procedure,

any error in following Rule 41 was a reasonable mistake of law that offers no basis for suppression. *See Heien v. North Carolina*, 574 U.S. 54 (2014).

III. Any Error Was Harmless.

Finally, this Court need not reach the Fourth Amendment issues, as it is clear "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967).

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